

# **Constitution of the Semiotic Society of America**

Adopted at the First Annual Conference, 24 September 1976, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, Incorporated 5 February 1976, University of New York, New York State, USA.

# **ARTICLE I. NAME**

The Semiotic Society of America, Inc. shall be known as the "Semiotic Society of America" and by its abbreviated name, the "SSA" or the "Society."

# **ARTICLE II. PURPOSE**

The object of the society shall be the advancement of the study of signs.

## **ARTICLE III. AFFILIATIONS**

The Semiotic Society of America takes a positive view to affiliating with appropriate international and other national organizations.

#### **ARTICLE IV. MEMBERSHIPS**

## Section 1. MEMBERSHIP CLASSES

There shall be four classes of membership in the Society:

(a) Individual: Any person may become a member of the Society by paying the designated annual dues. Any member who has paid dues for twenty years and who has retired from the regular exercise of his/her profession may, by vote of the Executive Board, be relieved from the further payment of dues, without losing any of the rights of membership.

- (b) Student: Any student enrolled in the regular academic year as a candidate for a degree in a recognized college or university may become a student member by paying the designated annual dues. This status may be held for no longer than seven continuous years, and may be applied for only once.
- (c) Institutional: An institution (e.g., a library) may become an institutional member by paying the designated annual dues.
- (d) Honorary: Foreign scholars who have made significant contributions to the advancement of the Society's aim, and who are not resident of North America, may be elected Honorary membership by vote of the Society on recommendations of the Executive Board. Honorary members shall have no financial obligations to the Society. The total number of honorary members shall not exceed fifteen, and not more than four may be elected in any one year.

# **Section 2. MEMBERSHIP DUES**

The dues for the classes of membership shall be fixed by vote of the Society on recommendation of the Executive Board. The payment of dues on or before October 1 of each year shall constitute membership in good standing in the Society.

#### Section 3. ENDOWMENT RESERVE FUND

The Executive Board is empowered to establish an endowment fund for long term investment to create a fiscal sustainability reserve fund for the Society.

#### Section 4. MEMBERSHIP PRIVILEGES

Only Individual and Students in good standing shall be eligible to vote and hold office in the Society.

Only Individual, Student, and Honorary members in good standing may offer papers to the Program Committee for oral presentation at meetings of the Society. Anybody may submit manuscripts to be considered as possible contributions to the publications of the Society.

All members in good standing shall receive the regular periodical publications of the Society.

# **ARTICLE V. OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES**

#### Section 1. INDIVIDUAL OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

The individual officers shall consist of:

- (a) a President, who shall serve for one term only and who shall take office at the conclusion of the annual meeting. The President shall preside at all business meetings of the Society and all meetings of the Executive Board and shall present an annual address to the Society.
- (b) a Vice-President, who shall have the additional title of President-Elect. The Vice President shall serve for one term only, succeeding to the presidency in the following term.
- (c) an Executive Director appointed by the Executive Board for one term and eligible for immediate re-appointment. The Executive Director is directly responsible to the Executive Board. The Executive Director shall administer the affairs of the Society, with the following specific responsibilities: to be in charge of all publications issued by the Society, delegating any editing deemed advisable; to keep records of the transactions of the Society; to oversee the elections and referenda conducted by mail ballot; to conduct financial operations of the Society. The Executive Director may be provided with administrative, editorial, and clerical assistance, as approved by the Executive Board.
- (d) a Secretary appointed by the Executive Board for one term and eligible for immediate re-appointment. Duties include recording the minutes of (formal actions taken by motions approved) both the Executive Board Meeting and the Business Meeting at the Annual Conference.
- (e) a Webmaster appointed by the Executive Board for one term and eligible for immediate re-appointment. Duties include maintaining and updating the SSA Website and assisting the Executive Director with digital media matters.

## Section 2. THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND ITS DUTIES

- (a) There shall be an Executive Board, composed of the above individual officers, together with the immediate past president and six other members of the Society. Two of the six shall be elected each year to serve for a period of three years, and are to be ineligible for immediate re-election. [In contrast to the President, who assumes office at the end of the Annual Conference, the two newly elected members of the Executive Board take office with the beginning of the Annual Conference.] At the meeting of the Executive Board, no proxies are to be allowed.
- (b) The Executive Board is charged with setting the policies of the Society, overseeing the office of the Executive Director, and carrying out such other functions as may seem advisable.
- (c) The Executive Board shall meet at the time of the annual conference of the

society, and all actions must be reported to the Society at the next annual conference. The meetings of the Executive Board shall be open for observation to any member of the Society.

(d) The Executive Director may, and shall at the request of any other member of the Board, ask the Executive Board to vote upon specific questions by mail, and if a majority of the Board shall vote by mail for or against any measure thus submitted, that vote shall be decisive.

#### ARTICLE VI. STANDING COMMITTEES AND THEIR DUTIES

### Section 1. NOMINATING COMMITTEE

There shall be a Nominating Committee, consisting of three members appointed by the Executive Board, for a three-year term, one to be replaced each year. The member whose term is about to expire shall chair the Committee.

The Nominating Committee shall nominate one person for the position of Vice-President and one person for each vacant position on the Executive Board. The names of the nominees will be circulated by mail to all voting members in good standing not less than four months in advance of the annual meeting.

Any member of the society may initiate a petition proposing an additional candidate for any vacancy. The petitions, including the consent of the candidate and supported by letters from at least ten members in good standing of the Society, must be received by the Executive Director within one month of the mailing of the initial Nominating Committee report.

A mail ballot shall be submitted to the members not less than two months before the annual meeting. It shall contain the names of the candidates proposed by the Nominating Committee together with names proposed by members of the Society. Election shall be a plurality of votes cast for each office and received by the Executive Director at least one week prior to the annual meeting.

# Section 2. CONFERENCE PROGRAM COMMITTEE

There shall be a Program Committee, consisting of the Vice-President as chair, together with six members appointed by the Executive Board. Two persons shall be appointed each year to serve for a period of three years. The Program Committee shall have complete responsibility for the scholarly aspects of the Society's meetings.

#### Section 3. KEVELSON AWARD COMMITTEE

There shall be a Roberta Kevelson Award Committee to annually select a student paper for presentation and appropriate recognition at the Annual Conference. The selected

person will be known as the "Kevelson Award Recipient".

#### Section 4. SEBEOK AWARD COMMITTEE

There shall be a Thomas A. Sebeok Award Committee to annually select a person to honor for substantial career or lifetime scholarly contributions to the discipline of Semiotics that recognizes the unique contribution of American Semiotics to the wider international community of semiotic scholarship. The selected person will be known as the "Sebeok Fellow of SSA" and shall receive appropriate recognition at the Annual Conference.

#### **Section 5. OTHER COMMITTEES**

The Executive Board may create ad hoc committees to deal with particular problems.

## **ARTICLE VII. MEETINGS**

#### Section 1. ANNUAL CONFERENCE

There shall be an Annual Conference of the Society at each time and place as shall be determined by majority vote of the membership. The Conference shall have the dual function of: (1) a scholarly forum devoted to the presentation of papers and to other scholarly discussion as arranged by the Program Committee; and (2) a society Business Meeting, at which any member in good standing shall have the right to raise and discuss any issue pertaining to the conduct of the Society, and at which a quorum shall consist of the members actually present at the Business Meeting.

### Section 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS AND POWERS

The Executive Board may call special meetings of the Society and shall have the power, in an emergency, to cancel any meeting.

## **ARTICLE VIII. AMENDENTS**

Any member of the Society may initiate a petition proposing an amendment to this Constitution.

The petition, submitted to the Executive Director, must be supported by letters from at least ten voting members in good standing. Within one year of the receipt of a valid petition, and after open discussion at the next business meeting, the Executive Director shall submit the proposed amendment to the Society in a special mail ballot. An amendment must have the approval of two thirds of the members voting.

# **ARTICLE IX. RECORD OF AMENDMENTS**

Amendment to ARTICLE Adoption Date:	, SECTION 
Amendment to ARTICLE Adoption Date:	, SECTION